
 

Page 1 of 2 

 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA  

May 1, 2019 – 1:30 PM 
5401 Old Redwood Highway, 1st Floor 

Petaluma, CA 94954 
 
 
 
 

1. Call to Order 
 

2. Approval of the April 17, 2019 Board Minutes  
 

3. Public Comment on Non-agenda Items  
 

4. Board Member Announcements 
 

5. General Manager’s Report  
 

6. Consent 
a. Approve a Resolution to Implement Cost-of-Living Increase for Controller/Supervisor 

Job Classification 
 

7.  Accept SMART’s Annual Report 2018 
 

8. Authorize the General Manager to Execute SMART Insurance Policies for Fiscal Year 2019-20   
 

9.  Approve a Resolution Authorizing the General Manager to Execute Construction Contract 
No. CV-BB-18-001 with Granite Construction Company in the Amount of $2,023,300.59 for 
the construction of non-motorized pathway from Payran Street to Southpoint Boulevard in 
the City of Petaluma 

 
10. Authorize the General Manager to execute Amendment No. 1 to Agreement No. CV-PS-17-

001 with Biggs Cardosa Associates, Inc. in the amount of $40,000 to increase the not-to-
exceed amount of the Agreement to $365,000 to provide construction support services for 
the Payran Street to Southpoint Boulevard Multi-Use Pathway in Petaluma 

 
 
 
 

Page 1 of 66



 

Page 2 of 2 

 
 
 
 
11. Authorize the General Manager to Award a Sole-Source Purchase Order to Alstom 

Signaling Operations, LLC. for the Purchase of Specialized Rail Signal Equipment in the 
amount of $66,903.78 

 
12. Approve the creation of a Pilot Program to allow for free rides on SMART for Active Duty 
 Military and Military Veterans for Memorial Day Weekend (May 25, 26 and 27) 
 
13. Novato to Suisun Passenger Rail Study Information/Presentation 
 
14. Closed Session – Conference with Labor Negotiator Farhad Mansourian, General Manager 

pursuant to California Government Code Section 54957.6 
  Agency Designated Representative: General Manager 

  Represented Employees: SMART Engineers Conductors Association (SECA) 
  
15. Report Out of Closed Session  
 
16. Next Regular Meeting Board of Directors, May 15, 2019 – 1:30 PM – 5401 Old Redwood 

Highway, 1st Floor, Petaluma, CA  94954  
 
17. Adjournment 

 
DISABLED ACCOMMODATION: If you have a disability that requires the agenda materials to be in an alternate format or that 
requires an interpreter or other person to assist you while attending this meeting, please contact SMART at least 72 hours prior 
to the meeting to ensure arrangements for accommodation. Please contact the Clerk of the Board at (707) 794-3072 or dial CRS 
711 for more information.  
 
DOCUMENTS: Documents distributed by SMART for its monthly Board meeting or committee meetings, and which are not 
otherwise privileged, may be inspected at SMART’s office located at 5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200, Petaluma, CA 94954 
during regular business hours. Documents may also be viewed on SMART’s website at: www.sonomamarintrain.org. Materials 
related to an item on this Agenda submitted to SMART after distribution of the agenda packet are available for public inspection 
at the SMART Office. For information about accessing SMART meetings by public transit, use the trip planner at www.511 

Page 2 of 66



 

Page 1 of 10 

 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES  
April 17, 2019 - 1:30 PM  

5401 Old Redwood Highway, 1st Floor 
Petaluma, CA 94954 

 
1. Call to Order 

 
Chair Phillips called the meeting to order at 1:30pm. Directors Arnold, Connolly, Fudge, 
Hillmer, Lucan, Naujokas, Pahre, Rogers and Zane were present. Director Rabbitt arrived later. 
 

2. Approval of the March 6, 2019 Board Minutes and April 3, 2019 Workshop Minutes 
 

Chair Phillips stated that the April 3rd workshop minutes were outstanding. 
 
Corrections to April 3, 2019 Workshop Minutes 
Director Fudge stated that she would like the following comment to be added to her 
statement: that the Windsor Hopper route was designed to meet some SMART trains, and is 
a new example of additional “first mile/last mile” connection provided by the town to a nearby 
SMART Station. 
 
Director Connolly stated that he would like his comment (Page 4 of 13) to be rephrased to 
read less confusing. 
 
Director Zane stated that she would like her comment (Page 6 of 13) to remove the word 
perhaps and rephrase the sentence. 
 
Director Rabbitt arrived 1:35PM 
 
MOTION: Director Arnold moved approval of the March 6, 2019 Board Minutes as presented 
and April 3, 2019 Workshop Minutes as corrected. Director Lucan second. The motion carried 
11-0-0 
 

3. Public Comment 
  

Jack Swearingen said that Doug Kerr received a certificate from the National Association of 
Railway Passengers. 

Page 3 of 66



 

Page 2 of 10 

 James Duncan stated that the title of his letter to the Press Democrat Editor was not included  
 in the minutes. The title was “How much of Measure Q funds have been spent on the multi-
 use pathway”. He stated that Director Rogers asked how much of Measure Q funds have been 
 allocated to the Bicycle/Pedestrian Pathway, and asked when will the information be 
 provided. 
 
  Duane Bellinger stated that without having a Corona Station, the east Petaluma residents will 
 likely not support the SMART tax measure. 

 
4. Board Members Announcements 

 
Director Connolly stated that he is doing his Annual Challenge “Ride with Damon”, where he 
is car free for one month.  He took the train from Marin Civic Center to Downtown Petaluma 
and rode an E-Bike to the SMART Board of Directors’ Meeting. He said that the train was on 
time and he looks forward to using the Petaluma pathway once it is completed. 
 

5. General Manager’s Report 
  

General Manager Mansourian said that SMART has carried 1,163,075 passengers, 106,287 
bicycles, and 4,541 wheelchairs. Construction continues at Larkspur. SMART will be receiving 
final bids for the Payran Street to Southpoint Boulevard Pathway, Petaluma, which staff will 
bring for approval at the May 1st Board meeting. 
 

6. Consent 
a.  Approval of Monthly Financial Reports 
b. Approval of Resolution Authorizing the General Manager to Execute Change Order 01 

to Contract No. CV-BB-18-001 with Ghilotti Brothers in an amount of $34,439 for 
Modifications to the Maintenance Pit for the Wheel Truing Machine at the Rail 
Operations Center. 

 
Chair Phillips asked for Board and public comments on the proposed Consent Agenda. 
 
MOTION:  Director Pahre moved approval of the Consent Agenda as presented. Director 
Lucan second. The motion carried 11-0-0 
 

7. Direct Staff to Prepare Strategic Plan and other Supporting Documentation for Renewal of 
the SMART Sales Tax in March 2020 

 
Chief Financial Officer, Erin McGrath, stated that the item before the Board is to get approval 
and to direct staff to prepare the Strategic Plan and other supporting documentation for the 
Sales Tax Renewal in March 2020 Ballot.  SMART’s ¼ cent sales tax has produced $289 million 
in revenues for SMART through Fiscal Year 2018. SMART has leveraged the $289 million to 
bring in over $304 million for building and operating our transit system, which has led to $550 
million of direct investment in the transportation infrastructure of the two Counties. 
 

Page 4 of 66



 

Page 3 of 10 

In addition to building an entire transit agency, Measure Q has created jobs. Also, 
commercial, retail and housing are being built in Rohnert Park principally due to the SMART 
Station nearby. The existence of SMART as an operating transit district has allowed for active 
partnerships with others who have funded an additional $22.9 million in multi-use pathway 
either on or made possible by our rail right-of-way. 
 
The original Sales Tax Measure was anticipated to bring $890 million total. However, that was 
significantly reduced by the great recession that occurred almost simultaneously with the 
vote. The original Expenditure Plan stated that the entire project  could be built for $541 
million. With the addition of Positive Train Control and higher project cost, the Board made 
the decision to Phase the project in order to move it forward. 
 
Despite the challenging times, SMART was able to issue important bonds against Measure Q 
that allowed the project to move forward. We have included in our financial plans a $17 
million in reserve against the unknown cost of operations. In the next three years, we 
anticipate the increase in debt service payments, plus anticipated operating costs, will require 
using the reserve funds. 
 
In our efforts to evaluate SMART’s operating expenditures, we have looked in every possible 
way to keep cost down, however, our train riders would like more service by reducing the 
gap. Your board has expressed interest in discussing ways to provide reduced fare options. 
 
Our proposed direction at this time, is to lower our debt service by extending the payments 
for a longer period of time. An extension of the sales tax past its current expiration date of 
2029 would provide room for debt restructuring and bring expense down in the future. 
 
In order to move the Measure on the March 2020 ballot, SMART would need to prepare the 
following documents and present them to your Board for consideration over the coming weeks 
and months: 

▪ Strategic Plan  
▪ Expenditure Plan  
▪ Short Range Transit Plan 
▪ Ordinance Placing a Tax Renewal on the Ballot 
▪ Cost Estimates for Tax Renewal 
▪ Timeline – Sales Tax Process and Strategic Plan Process 

 
In summary, we recommend that your board gives staff direction to continue moving forward 
to prepare the Strategic Plan and other supporting documents necessary to renewal of 
SMART Sales Tax in March 2020. 
 
Comments: 
Director Naujokas stated that many people vote with their heart and asked how do we engage 
with the voters at the heart level? He would like to see a focus group (marketing and 
strategy). What type of public outreach plan did SMART have in mind? Ms. McGrath 
responded that from the finance perspective that this Agency needs to be sustainable. Mr. 

Page 5 of 66



 

Page 4 of 10 

Mansourian responded that when staff begins to work on the Expenditure Plan, this process  
will involve input from the public. The good news is that as a rail agency, we construct rail 
and pathway. Also, members of the public will be able to provide feedback when the Short 
Range Transit Plan is being developed. This will be the section, where the fares will be re-
evaluated and reviewed.  Both of these topics: 1) Expenditure Plan and 2) Short Range Transit 
Plan will consist of a lot of public outreach, focus groups, and public meetings. 
 
Director Arnold said that Board Members will not be allowed to campaign and whom SMART 
hires to run this campaign, would be the staff who focusses on the voters with the 
information that SMART and Board of Directors provide.  
 
Director Lucan stated that from a finance perspective SMART needs the sales tax renewal for 
the long-term. He said that if SMART waits there is a risk it does not pass by the voters. If you 
go early, it gives SMART and the Board the flexibility to the needs of the community and make 
any necessary adjustments. 
 
Director Rogers stated we are talking about two different conversations: 1) Does SMART 
extend the sales tax and 2) why go eight years early. The Strategic Plan will need to address 
both topics, to help members of the public understand SMART and for the Measure to be 
successful. The public needs to understand from a financial, environmental and community 
perspective the value that SMART brings.  He is not sure if he is ready to support the ballot 
being placed in March 2020, since there are many other Measures going. He is interested in 
receiving polling on the accumulative impact of having multiple Measures on the ballot as to 
how it impacts one another. The Sonoma County Transportation Authority (SCTA) Measure 
M renewal is going in March 2020, and we know that voters are only going to vote for one, 
SMART still has eight years and SCTA does not. There is a lot of value in preparing the Strategic 
Plan which will address the promises of Measure Q. 
 
Director Zane said that from a financial perspective it looks like sales tax had a growth of 
approximately $13M in eight years. She asked if the 2018 Sales Tax is approximately $37M, 
Operations Department is approximately $26M, and Reserves is $5M, what happened to the 
extra $10M?, did it go back into debt service or reserves, with a conclusion of restructuring 
the debt service?. Ms. McGrath responded that growth and sales tax revenue has been 
healthy. Every year SMART’s budget outlines what the sales tax measure has been paying: 
unanticipated project cost, labor salary increases, and other operations expenses. Mr. 
Mansourian stated that operation cost ($26M) and debt service ($17M) per year is exceeding 
sales tax received. If the board does not direct staff to start the sales tax measure renewal, 
staff will immediately start to balance and restructure the budget in order to not run out of 
reserves. The biggest unknown for SMART is if a recession was to occur, it could be significant. 
Director Zane suggested that SMART examine the population trends. She would like staff to 
prepare a financial page that outlines the following: 1) debt service balance; 2) reserves spend 
to date; 3) reserves balance; 4) operating cost; and 5) sales tax surplus. This high-level 
financial page will help ask the right questions. We need to continue to grow and keep the 
promise to the public. Ms. McGrath responded that SMART has provided more services than 
anticipated and has been maximizing all the revenues received.  Director Zane asked if the 

Page 6 of 66



 

Page 5 of 10 

debt service can be refinanced. Ms. McGrath responded that there are not enough years to 
lower the payments.  
 
Director Rabbitt stated that Marin and Sonoma Taxpayers have ½ billion dollars investment 
in this railroad system and we need to make sure we continue to move forward. There is no 
alternative but to go back to the voters for the sales tax extension, since it’s the primary 
source of revenues that SMART operates with. He suggested that staff prepare a long-term 
financial plan. The ¼ cent was not enough and many sales tax measures that needed ½ cent 
don’t bring the poll high enough. Also, what happens in order to get a program passed by 
voters is to place a sunset date (20 years) and does not make sense on a program that does 
not have alternative funding source. He would like SMART to consider adding “no sunset 
date” and for the financial plan to include options on the debt service, operating cost, and 
projects moving forward. 
 
Director Rogers said that many are tracking the California Supreme Court decision on whether 
the lower threshold for an Initiative that qualifies by signature vs. placed by an entity. If you 
qualify for a specific Initiative that directs the funding, rather than a 2/3rd vote it becomes a 
majority. The ruling has not been made, he hopes this will also be considered and could lead 
to a successful outcome. 
 
Director Connolly said the SMART will need to tackle voters’ expectations and concerns head 
on. The Board Workshop last session highlighted: 1) fares; 2) pathway; and 3) Strategic Plan. 
The Strategic Plan will help voters see SMART plans and projects that are moving forward. 
We need to think of how SMART can sustain itself as it continues to grow service.  
 
Chair Phillips stated that he is in favor of this item moving forward because it will give the 
Board the opportunity to receive feedback. He is very interested in the assumptions that will 
be made for the next 20 years.    
 
Director Fudge stated that she was involved in the 2007 discussion/decision of ¼ cent vs. ½ 
cent sales tax to be placed on the ballot. Many different factors were considered when the 
decision was made for ¼ cent sales tax. She said it would be important for the Strategic Plan 
Report to outline the financial impacts of the restructure of the debt service with ¼ cent with 
20-years and no sunset date.   
 
Comments 
Steve Birdlebough stated that he sits on the Citizens Oversight Committee (COC) and many 
of the issues/questions asked today were also discussed at the last COC meeting in March 
2019. Staff has prepared an excellent proposal and urged the Board to direct staff to move 
forward with the plan. 
 
Doug Kerr stated SMART must deliver a more definite plan for delivering rail service to the 
north county (Healdsburg to Cloverdale) for voters to support a ballot measure next year. “If 
it’s going to remain out in the fog somewhere”, “We’ll do it someday when we get the 
money”, you’re going to lose the support. SMART cannot leave that as an open issue and still 

Page 7 of 66



 

Page 6 of 10 

expect North County support.” 
 
Willard Richards stated that he strongly supports moving the plan forward at this time. Also, 
he said that hopefully Sonoma County Transportation Authority and SMART are working with 
each other to determine the best outcome for both agencies in March and November 2020. 
He said that public concerns regarding the sales tax measure need to be addressed. Also, 
Measure M was very successful due largely for outlining the allocations of funds and 
suggested that SMART follow the same model. 
 
Jack Swearingen stated he strongly supports moving forward with the sales tax renewal in 
March or November 2020. He suggested the SMART includes in the campaign the benefits for 
Marin County Citizens.  
 
MOTION: Director Arnold moved to Direct Staff to Prepare Strategic Plan and other 
Supporting Documentation for Renewal of the SMART Sales Tax in March 2020 as presented. 
Director Lucan second. The motion carried 11-0-0.  
 

8. Approve the Creation of a Pilot Program to allow for free rides on SMART for Youth aged 18-
years and younger, when accompanied by a fare-paying adult, and free parking on the days 
SMART provides weekend or holiday service between May 25 through September 2, 2019 
(Memorial Day weekend through Labor Day weekend) 

 
General Manager Mansourian stated that the item for Board approval today is to consider 
this Pilot Program proposal to test how to grow a generation of transit riders, create a culture 
of transit within the broader community and grow SMART ridership where on-board train 
capacity exists.   
 
SMART offers 34 trips a day on weekdays and 10 trips a day on weekends, and on weekdays 
the southbound morning and northbound evening commute trips regularly experience 
standing room only trains, with bicycle racks filled to capacity. Other trains that have 
witnessed high levels of congestion include some surprises, such as midday northbound trips. 
The financial planning and fare setting exercises that anticipated approximately 300 daily 
passengers during the weekends, with actual ridership on weekends being realized at two to 
three times the number of riders.  
 

 Based on the comments received on April 3rd Workshop, staff recommends this Pilot Program 
to allow for free rides for youth aged 18-years and younger, when accompanied by a fare-
paying adult and free parking from Memorial Day (May 25th) through Labor Day (September 
2th).  Staff will return to the Board with periodic status reports as the program is implemented 
and a final report on ridership results, lessons learned and any recommendations regarding 
the program modifications. 

 
 Comments 
 Director Naujokas said that this program is like the lost leader, in the sense of losing the 

current charged fare to potentially gain more riders. Mr. Mansourian responded  that the 

Page 8 of 66



 

Page 7 of 10 

Engineer-Conductors received comments from families on the weekends stating that they 
would ride more frequently on weekends if it was affordable for families. In 2018, the Sonoma 
County Transit was faced with available capacity and a desire to grow ridership on several 
routes, began a pilot program to provide free fares and the results have been dramatic. 
Director Naujokas asked what will be the negative impact if youths 18-years and younger are 
provided with free SMART rides, and also why limit the accompany clause. Mr. Mansourian 
responded that he will be happy to evaluate further. Chief McGill responded that adding the 
adult factor gives accountability and level of supervision. Also, the checking of fares is very 
liberal. 

 
 Director Arnold asked what is the cost for Youths. Mr. Mansourian responded 50% of the 

adult fare. Also, this is a starting point for SMART to address some of the comments received 
regarding the fares. 

 
 Director Connolly stated that the pilot program is a great idea. Also, its most likely that an 18-

year old will be riding solo without an adult, if there is any thought or possibility that the 18-
year does not need to be accompanied by an adult, but be tied into the program. Mr. 
Mansourian responded that the checking of fares is very liberal and SMART wants it to be a 
positive experience for riders. Director Connolly asked if SMART has considered increasing 
the level of service during special events like the Marin County Fair? Mr. Mansourian 
responded since the Marin County Fair is near the Marin Civic Center Station, SMART has 
added the third car to accommodate more riders. Two years ago, the County of Marin and 
SMART shared the cost to add an additional train and last year the County of Marin decided 
not to pay but added a parking facility for the event.  

 
 Director Rabbitt stated that he is in favor of the pilot program. The train brings a lot of people 

to the Butter and Eggs Parade in Petaluma. He suggested that SMART consider looking into 
special events services.  

 
 Director Pahre stated that she is in favor of the pilot program. 18 years and younger is the 

standard age in most programs in the counties. 
 
 Director Rogers said this pilot program coincides when kids are not in school (summer break). 

The City of Santa Rosa bus passes are being tracked to determine if any reimbursements are 
coming in different from State and Federal sources based on increased ridership. 

 
 Director Zane asked if riders purchasing alcoholic beverages on the train are being asked to 

provide proof of age. Mr. Mansourian responded absolutely yes. She asked if Becoming 
Independent is still running the café. Mr. Mansourian responded yes, and their contract 
expires in June 2019. 

 
 Director Hillmer stated that the pilot program is a great idea. 
 

Page 9 of 66



 

Page 8 of 10 

 Director Fudge stated that she often hears from riders (family) of how expensive it is to ride 
the SMART train and the Ferry with their family. She is happy that this program will provide 
the opportunity for those families to ride more frequently with this program. 

 
 Director Hillmer stated that he may have to recuse himself from discussion on this topic when 

he starts the “Captain Clipper Transit Day Camp”. 
 
 Director Naujokas stated that there are 15 and 16 years old that may have the lack of mobility 

and would be great to get them hooked on public transit. In two years they will also be eligible 
to vote.  We need to make the train more relevant to more riders. He suggested that the 
Board could provide a policy to give discounts and reduced fares. 

 
 Director Rogers stated that part of the American culture of how we ended up as a car culture 

is the freedom to drive an automobile when you turn 16 years of age. The compromise is that 
there is a liberal interpretation, however if they look 15 years or younger, they ride with a 
paying-fare adult for free and if they look older they can ride alone for free.  

 
 Director Zane stated that in many urban area kids take the bus by themselves to school at a 

much younger age. 
 
 Chair Phillips stated that this is a pilot program, therefore let’s approve the program, review 

the results and make any necessary modifications once feedback is received.  
 
 Public Comments 
 Willard Richards stated that many drivers pick up passengers in order to drive in the carpool 

lanes to cross the Bay Bridge. There could be scenarios where kids ask to be sponsored by an 
adult. 

 
 Rick Coates stated that SMART needs to be careful about letting youths on the train without 

supervision. 
  

MOTION: Director Connolly moved to Approve the Creation of a Pilot Program to allow for 
free rider on SMART for Youth aged 18-years and younger, when accompanied by a fare-
paying adult, and free parking on the days SMART provides weekend or holiday service 
between May 25 through September 2, 2019 (Memorial Day weekend through Labor Day 
weekend) as presented. Director Lucan second. The motion carried by roll count 11-0-0. 
 

9. Approve a Resolution Authorizing the General Manager to Execute Change Order 031 to 
Contract No. CV-DB-16-001 with Stacy and Witbeck/Herzog, JV in an amount of $652,470 to 
Install Grade Crossing Improvements at Main Street, Penngrove; and Authorize the General 
Manager to Execute a Funding Agreement with the County of Sonoma for the Grade Crossing 
Improvements to Main Street, Penngrove 
 
Chief Engineer, Bill Gamlen gave a brief overview of the project. He said that the County of 
Sonoma has been working with the community of Penngrove to make intersection 

Page 10 of 66



 

Page 9 of 10 

improvements at Main Street in Penngrove. The improvements consist of removing vehicular 
medians at roadway on Main Street and Woodward Avenue at-grade crossing. They will be 
adding quad gates at the grade crossings. The County prepared construction documents for 
the improvement that staff reviewed and used to solicit pricing from Stacy and 
Witbeck/Herzog. The County reviewed and accepted the contractor’s price. The County has 
secured funding to pay for the work. 
 
Staff is recommending that the Board approves Resolution No. 2019-02, which will authorize 
the General Manager to execute Change Order 031 to Contract No. CV-DB-16-001 in an 
amount of $652,470 and to authorize the General Manager to execute a funding agreement 
with the County of Sonoma to fund the work. 
 
Comments 
Director Rabbitt thanked General Manager Mansourian and Chief Engineer Gamlen for 
working with the County of Sonoma on this project to make improvements for the community 
of Penngrove.  
 
Director Naujokas asked for clarification for the funding of this project. Mr. Gamlen 
responded that the County of Sonoma is funding the work. SMART will maintain the 
improvements as part of SMART’s project.  
 
MOTION: Director Rabbitt moved to Approve a Resolution Authorizing the General Manager 
to Execute Change Order 031 to Contract No. CV-DB-16-001 with Stacy and Witbeck/Herzog, 
JV in an amount of $652,470 to Install Grade Crossing Improvements at Main Street, 
Penngrove; and Authorize the General Manager to Execute a Funding Agreement with the 
County of Sonoma for the Grade Crossing Improvements to Main Street, Penngrove as 
presented. Director Arnold second. The motion carried by roll count 11-0-0. 

 
10. Authorize the General Manager to Execute Amendment No. 1 to the Agreement between 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission and VenTek Transit Inc. in an amount of 
$341,724.36 for the Purchase of Four (4) additional Card Vending Machines and Spare Parts 
for the Larkspur, Downtown Novato and Windsor Stations 
 
Chief Engineer, Bill Gamlen stated that the item to the Board is a recommendation to purchase 
four (4) Card Vending Machines (CVM) for the upcoming Larkspur (2), Downtown Novato (1), 
and Windsor (1) platform stations. The contract that Metropolitan Transportation Commission 
executed with VenTek Transit provides for option purchases CVM’s. Staff negotiated option 
pricing based upon the option terms in the contract for $341,724.36. The City of Novato has 
budgeted for the purchase of a CVM for the Downtown Novato station as part of the 
construction of their third station.  Both the Larkspur Extension and Windsor Extension Projects 
include the purchase of CVMs in their budgets as well. 
 
Comments 
Director Naujokas asked why it will take 72 hours for Software Engineering development. Mr. 
Gamlen responded that it included installation and modifying the existing console in the 

Page 11 of 66



 

Page 10 of 10 

system. Mr. Mansourian said that the Card Vending Machines need to be programmed to 
SMART’s specifications and every transit agency is unique. SMART is receiving a huge discount 
on the machines compared to other agencies. 
 
MOTION: Director Rabbitt moved to Authorize the General Manager to Execute Amendment 
No. 1 to the Agreement between Metropolitan Transportation Commission and VenTek 
Transit Inc. in an amount of $341,724.36 for the Purchase of Four (4) additional Card Vending 
Machines and Spare Parts for the Larkspur, Downtown Novato and Windsor Stations as 
presented. Director Rogers second. The motion carried by roll count 11-0-0. 
 
Chair Phillips adjourned the Board to closed session at 2:52PM on the following: 
 

11. Closed Session – Public Evaluation Performance Evaluation – Title: General Manager 
(Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957; a local agency may hold a close session during 
a regular meeting to consider the appointment, employment, evaluation of a public 
employee) 

 
12. Report Out of Closed Session 
 
 Chair Phillips reported out of closed session at 4:50pm on the following: 
 

Closed Session – Public Evaluation Performance Evaluation – Title: General Manager 
(Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957; a local agency may hold a close session during 
a regular meeting to consider the appointment, employment, evaluation of a public 
employee 
 
Report Out: The Board of Directors met in closed session to discuss the Performance 
Evaluation of General Manager Mansourian. They are very pleased with his performance 
finding it excellent, and pleased with his leadership during a banner year of SMART. The 
evaluation is complete. 

  
13. Next Regular Meeting Board of Directors, May 1, 2019 – 1:30 PM – 5401 Old Redwood 
 Highway, 1st Floor, Petaluma, CA  94954  
   
12. Adjournment – Meeting adjourned at 4:52PM.  
 
 Respectfully submitted, 
  
 

Leticia Rosas-Mendoza 
 Clerk of the Board  
 
 Approved on:         

Page 12 of 66



Page 13 of 66



Page 14 of 66



Resolution No. 201904 

SonomaMarin Area Rail Transit District 
May 1, 2019 

 

Page 1 of 2  

 
 
 
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SONOMAMARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT 
DISTRICT AMENDING RESOLUTION NO. 2018-12 TO REVISE THE ANNUAL BUDGET FOR FISCAL 
YEAR 2018-19 TO PROVIDE FOR REVISED POSITION AUTHORITY 

 
 

WHEREAS, as part of its approval of the Annual Budget for Fiscal Year 2018-19, the Board 
duly considered the annual expenditures necessary for the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit 
District; and 
 

WHEREAS, on June 06, 2018, the Board adopted Resolution No. 2018-12 approving the 
annual budget for Fiscal Year 2018-19; and 
 

WHEREAS, Resolution No. 2018-12 considered the creation of employee positions and 
fixed the compensation and salary for those positions; and 
  

WHEREAS, the Board desires to Amend the Annual Budget to provide the revised 
position authority for increased salary and benefit expenditures. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE Fiscal Year 2018-19 Budget for the 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District attached as Exhibit A to Resolution No. 2018-12 is 
hereby amended to revise Table 5, Fiscal Year 2018-19 Proposed Position Authorizations, to 
reflect position revisions as shown below. 

 

 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED except as specifically amended or supplemented by this 
Resolution, Resolution No. 2018-12, together with all supplements, amendments and exhibits 
thereto is, and shall continue to be, in full force and effect as originally adopted, and nothing 
contained herein shall, or shall be construed to, modify, invalidate or otherwise affect any 
provision of Resolution No. 2018-12. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Position FTE

Low High Low High

Controller /Supervisor 10 92,252$     112,133$   44.35$       53.91$       

Salary Range Annual Salary Range: Hourly

Page 15 of 66



Resolution No. 201904 

SonomaMarin Area Rail Transit District 
May 1, 2019 

 

Page 2 of 2  

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the 
SonomaMarin Area Rail Transit District held on the 1st Day of May, by the following vote: 

 
DIRECTORS: 
AYES: 
 
NOES: 
 
ABSENT: 
 
ABSTAIN: 
 

_________________________________ 
Gary Phillips, Chair, Board of Directors 
SonomaMarin Area Rail Transit District 

 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________________ 
Leticia RosasMendoza, Clerk of the Board of Directors  
SonomaMarin Area Rail Transit District 

Page 16 of 66



Page 17 of 66



 

 

      

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District  

Annual Report 2018 

 

 

 
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200 

Petaluma, CA 94954

Page 18 of 66



 

P a g e  | i 

 

About Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 
SMART is a transit district created by the State of California in 2002 to oversee the development, 
implementation and operation of a passenger rail system in Marin and Sonoma counties.    

SMART passenger rail service began in 2017 between Downtown San Rafael in Marin and Airport 
Boulevard in Sonoma, with multiple connections to adjoining bike paths along the SMART corridor.  
These improvements are made possible by Measure Q, a one-quarter cent sales tax approved by 
Sonoma and Marin voters in 2008.  The rail project will ultimately serve a 70-mile corridor from 
Larkspur to Cloverdale, with an extension to Larkspur opening at the end of 2019 and a planned 
extension to Windsor in 2021. 

For more information about SMART and its projects and programs, please visit 
www.sonomamarintrain.org.  

2018 Board of Directors 
Debora Fudge, Chair 
Sonoma County Mayors and Councilmembers 
Association 
 
Judy Arnold, Vice Chair 
Marin County Board of Supervisors 
 
Damon Connolly 
 Marin County Board of Supervisors 
 
Jim Eddie 
 Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and    
Transportation District 
 
Dan Hillmer 
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers 
 
Eric Lucan 
Transportation Authority of Marin 

 
 

 Jake Mackenzie 
 Sonoma County Mayors and Councilmembers 
Association 
 
Gary Phillips 
 Transportation Authority of Marin 
 
Barbara Pahre  

 Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and     
Transportation District  
 
David Rabbitt 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 
 
Carol Russell 
 Sonoma County Mayors and Councilmembers 
Association 
 
Shirlee Zane 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 

 

District Management 
Farhad Mansourian 
General Manager 
 
Erin McGrath  
Chief Financial Officer  

Page 19 of 66



 

 

P a g e  | ii 

 

Table of Contents 

 

 

Message From The Chair, Board of Directors ............................................................................................... 1 

Passenger Rail Service ................................................................................................................................... 2 

Operations .................................................................................................................................................... 2 

Safety and Security ....................................................................................................................................... 7 

Capital Projects ............................................................................................................................................. 9 

Community Outreach .................................................................................................................................. 13 

Financial Information .................................................................................................................................. 18 

 

  

Page 20 of 66



 

 

P a g e  | 1 

Message From The Chair, Board of Directors 
  

On behalf of the SMART Board of Directors, I am pleased to present the 2018 Annual Report, providing the 
public information about the voter-funded Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District and our activities in the 
past year.  Although SMART provides numerous reports to the public such as an audited Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report, monthly management and budget reports as part of our regular Board meetings, 
this Annual Report is designed to encompass information from each of those reports.   

In 2018, SMART completed its first full year of passenger rail service, a milestone that built on the success of 
opening day, and saw SMART carry close to a million passengers by the end of December.  The vision of a 
safe, comfortable and reliable transit system throughout Marin and Sonoma Counties has been brought to 
life by our dedicated staff who continue to work tirelessly to provide the best possible service to our new 
customers.   

SMART is not content, however, to rest on its successes.  The District continues to push forward on the 
Larkspur extension, to open in 2019, providing a major regional connection to the Golden Gate Ferry.  In 
April of 2018, SMART announced it had received the necessary funding to build an extension and Station in 
the Town of Windsor, scheduled to open in 2021.  And as we entered 2019, we were pleased to see close to 
100,000 bicycles on our trains, another milestone in our journey toward full realization of the vision for the 
rail project. 

On behalf of the SMART Board of Directors, I’d like to thank the people of Sonoma and Marin for their 
continued support and enthusiasm.   Your Measure Q tax dollars make this progress possible.  We look 
forward to continued progress on the SMART rail and pathway project and the continued excellent service 
provided to the riding public. 

Sincerely, 

 

Debora Fudge, Chair 
Board of Directors 
  

Page 21 of 66



 

 

P a g e  | 2 

Passenger Rail Service  
 
In 2018, SMART celebrated its first anniversary of rail passenger service.  In that first year of 
service, SMART carried 722,961 passengers, 65,468 bicycles and 3,095 wheelchairs.  Although that 
first year carried numerous challenges, it was a year that brought to the North Bay a new 
transportation alternative not seen in the region for over 50 years.  This was strong ridership for a 
brand-new transit system using a new fare system (Clipper) in a region still recovering from the 
fires of 2017 in the North Bay.  SMART sold 5,338 unlimited ride 31-day passes, an average of 445 
each month.  

 

In 2018, SMART enjoyed continued support from the business community in Marin and Sonoma 
counties.  Over 70 employers reached out to SMART for information on how to obtain discounted 
passes and provide commuter benefits to their employees.  Many businesses started their own 
commuter benefit programs to allow employees to use pre-tax dollars to purchase SMART fares, 
some employers subsidized fare costs and provided free shuttles, and others managed Eco-Pass 
programs for their employees and associates.  SMART worked to create special semester-based 
Eco-passes for Santa Rosa Junior College, in addition to working with the County of Marin and the 
Marin County Office of Education for its employees.  From January to December of 2018, SMART 
had an average of 147 active Eco-Pass users each month. 

 
 

Operations   
 
The startup of a brand-new passenger service is a daunting challenge for any public agency big or 
small.  There are innumerable details that require foresight and attention, from the hundreds of 
components in the rail cars that need daily checking to the hundreds of people that required 
SMART’s staff attention and care.  However, one of the biggest accomplishments for 2018 was 
SMART’s 97% on-time performance for the year.  Providing a safe, reliable and comfortable service 
to our passengers will allow them to continue to ride the train and help the region by growing the 
number of cars we can keep off of our roads and freeway. 

 
STATION, RAIL AND SIGNAL MAINTENANCE 

SMART’s passenger service utilizes Positive Train Control, one of the first passenger railroads in the 
nation to do so.  This system, which builds on more traditional automatic train control systems, 
helps SMART to ensure the safety of our passengers and our communities.  Every aspect of our 
signal system requires dedicated, well-trained staff. Thus, Signal Technician training continued to 
be a focus in 2018.  SMART staff developed several training modules including Track Circuit 

Page 22 of 66



 

 

P a g e  | 3 

Maintenance and Trouble Shooting, Railroad Crossing Gate Maintenance and Repair, and Federal 
Rail Administration (FRA) Grade Crossing Safety and Inspections.  The Railroad Crossing Gate 
Maintenance and Repair training is particularly noteworthy as SMART currently has 9 different 
styles of gate mechanisms in service from 2 different manufacturers.  Each have slightly different 
wiring configurations, general maintenance requirements, and adjustment settings. 

Signal maintenance employees have a limited number of hours they can work in a day and 
minimum rest period durations.  These are spelled out in the Federal Hours of Service Regulations.  
In 2018 SMART transitioned from a labor-intensive paper method of tracking Hours of Service 
compliance to an electronic tracking system.  This new system enables quicker input by the 
Technicians with a more efficient and reliable format for auditing by the Supervisors. 

In 2018, SMART undertook an upgrade of the gate mechanisms at North McDowell Boulevard in 
Petaluma.  This crossing consisted gate mechanisms that 
existed prior to the more recent construction and 
keeping it in good working order was becoming difficult 
leading to activation problems and complaints from 
drivers.  Replacement gate mechanisms were assembled 
and wired by SMART’s Signal team with the assistance of 
engineering staff from the Petaluma office.  The new 
gate mechanisms were installed in pairs over two 
separate weekends.  They were tested and placed into 
service without disrupting passenger service. 

 

 

 

 

Page 23 of 66



 

 

P a g e  | 4 

FACILITIES MAINTENANCE 

The Facilities Maintenance team completed several safety enhancement projects in 2018.  They 
designed and installed red safety striping at all 
passenger platforms with the words “Stand Back” 
stenciled in white.  This is a supplemental warning 
added after SMART began operations.  This stenciling 
was added to the yellow truncated domes along the 
edges of the platforms to further inform the public of 
safe practices while boarding and exiting trains. 

SMART also constructed 50 feet of fence at 9th Street 
in Santa Rosa in order to increase the safety of that 
area.  The existing right-of-way fence allowed 
pedestrians to shortcut behind the sidewalk and 
warning device which lead to trespassing and safety 
concerns in the area.   

Our facilities staff also installed signs at select crossings in San Rafael, Petaluma, and Santa Rosa to 
discourage drivers from accidentally driving down the tracks.  Locations were selected based on 
past incidents and potential for vehicles to drive on the track.  The improvements were undertaken 
in an effort to improve public safety as well as eliminate a source of delays for the passenger 

service.  

Several clean-up projects were undertaken at some of 
SMART’s non-operational property locations to improve the 
general appearance as well as improve safety and security at 
the sites, including: 

• Downtown Petaluma Water Street  
• Petaluma Downtown Yard  
• Healdsburg Yard 
 

     

Page 24 of 66



 

 

P a g e  | 5 

In 2018, SMART completed one of the largest 
maintenance projects to date. The ride quality of 
SMART’s trains relies on inspecting and maintaining 
the quality of the rail below the cars.  A track 
geometry test car ran earlier in the year and revealed 
locations of track settlement and a few curves that 
needed adjustments made to their rail elevations.  
This maintenance work is typical following 
construction of new track bed while the ballast 
consolidates and settles.  Six miles of track plus 3 
turnouts were surfaced with specialized rail machines 
over the course of 4 weeks.  This work was performed 
at night after revenue train service was complete. An additional 2,700 tons of ballast was placed 
along the track as part of this project all leading to improved ride quality for SMART’s passengers. 

Vegetation management along the right of way is a major part of Track Maintenance’s weekly 
work.  Several methods are employed to manage the vegetation growth ranging from weed eaters, 
walk behind mowers, skid steer mounted mowers to a herd of goats.  SMART dispatched a herd of 
goats for three weeks to reduce vegetation just north of the Cal Park tunnel in San Rafael.  The 
conditions at this site were not suitable for mechanical or hand removal of the vegetation.  In 

addition, a rail mounted brush cutter was leased for 2 
months in order to cut vegetation in areas that are not 
otherwise accessible.   

Finally, the importance of managing permitted access 
to SMART tracks becomes a vital function now that 
trains are operating daily.  In 2018, staff worked with 
and oversaw access across the tracks for a number of 
special events, including the Windsor Day Parade, the 
Ironman tournament in Santa Rosa and the Kaiser 
Wellness Run in Novato.   Close coordination allowing 
access to SMART right-of-way by PG&E, Comcast, local 
Cities and Counties whose infrastructure cross our 
property was also a major focus.   

 
 
 

 
RAIL VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 

In 2018, operations and capital staff worked to design improvements to the Rail Operations Center 
to install a wheel truing machine in the vehicle maintenance pit. The wheel truing machine 

Page 25 of 66



 

 

P a g e  | 6 

machines material from the steel train wheels to remove flat spots and return them to the required 
specification.  The work to install the machine involves enlarging a portion of the existing vehicle 
maintenance pit, installing structural supports, and supplying high-voltage electricity.  Installation 
of machine is anticipated in 2019. 

In May of 2018, due to the failure of a box truck driver to stop and obey crossing warning gates at 
Todd Road in Santa Rosa, SMART’s Rail Car # 110 has been out of service awaiting repairs to the 
front of the vehicle.  The incident allowed us to witness the sturdiness of the DMU; while there was 
damage to the fiberglass front mask and substructure, the body and Crash Energy Management 
system were unphased. While Car #110 performed as expected and protected the engineer and 
passengers, the timeline for replacing components damaged during the incident is long.  The 
incident has allowed us to learn lessons for the future for repairing SMART’s fleet, from 
components needed on hand to replace damaged parts, to the intricacies of repairing the DMU’s 
structure. DMU 110 has been at Alstom, a rail vehicle repair shop located on Mare Island in Vallejo 
since September of 2018 and is expected to be returned to SMART by the summer of 2019.  

 
 
PASSENGER TRANSPORTATION  

Our Engineers, Conductors and Supervisors are becoming familiar to the regular riders of the 
SMART system.  By the end of 2018 they had successfully managed the transportation of close to 
one million train passengers. They are not only responsible for the movement of people and trains, 
but the safety of the riding public and the 
community.   Dispatching occurs all 24 hours of 
the day, while train movements generally 
require staff to start work at 3:30 am with the 
last shift ending at 10:00 pm.   The 
Transportation Division was busy this year 
filling all 29 Engineer-Conductor positions, as 
well as training and promoting candidates to 
fulfill the role of Controller Supervisor who 
supervise, dispatch and monitor all rail activity. 

Due to the highly regulated nature of 
passenger trains, staff must be continuously trained and certified.  This past year we successfully 
recertified fourteen (14) Engineer-Conductor certificates to comply with Federal Railroad 
Administration (FRA) certificates requirements.  All other Engineer-Conductors are continuously 
briefed, trained and checked for compliance with all SMART protocols, including those related to 
speed, stopping, fares, ADA compliance, to name a few.       

 

Page 26 of 66



 

 

P a g e  | 7 

Safety and Security 
 

Safety and security continue to be a top 
priority at SMART. The safety team consists 
of the Chief of Police, three code compliance 
officer positions, a Safety and Compliance 
officer and two safety consultants. The team 
goals are focused on prevention, education 
and enforcement of safety practices along 
the right of way and on SMART trains and 
platforms.   

During the last year, safety staff has 
contacted hundreds of trespassers along the right of way despite continued effort educated and 
inform the public that there is “No Trespassing” SMART property.     

 

Safety staff also investigated five 
major incidents in 2018. There have 
been four train related deaths in 
2018, three of which were ruled 
suicide. Additionally, SMART stuck a 
box truck that illegally entered the 
right of way, driving through SMART’s 
crossing safety equipment.   

As a result of the delays caused by 
these and other incidents, SMART 

has worked to create more ways to communicate with the public regarding scheduling delays. Nixle 
has become a widely-used application that allows for alerts to the public of both emergencies and 
schedule or delay information. In 2018, SMART implemented widespread use of Nixle, which allows 
the public to text “SMART” to 888-777 to receive up the minute alerts from SMART.  

In addition to implementing Nixle, at the end of 2018 SMART installed on-platform announcement 
speakers, allowing for system-wide to alerts to riders about 
emergency situations. These speakers are installed on all 
train platforms and messages can be broadcast remotely by 
SMART staff.  

Page 27 of 66



 

 

P a g e  | 8 

 

Ongoing safety and security training continue to be a priority for 
the District. One such example is the convening of internal 
exercises to discuss or practice management and response to 
critical incidents. The value of these exercises is to identify 
potential scenarios before they occur to be better prepared for 
future incidents.  

 

SMART also 
coordinates with 
Marin and Sonoma 
Law Enforcement 

agencies. On a monthly basis, staff meets with police 
executives from both Counties to discuss industry 
trends, concerns and provides an opportunity for 
education on activities and issues related to SMART.  

In addition to coordination at the local level, SMART 
works with Department of Homeland Security, 
Transportation Security Administration (TSA), 
Surface Transportation Division to conduct internal audits and exercises. TSA assisted with an audit 
of our system as well as planned to conduct trainings for SMART Operations staff on suspicious 
packages and incident response. Staff participated in a regional review of the Threat and Hazard 
Identification and Risk Assessment (THIRA) and Stakeholder Preparedness Review Guide. This 
comprehensive guide published by the Department of Homeland Security provides guidance for 
agencies on conducting risk assessments for their systems. 

In 2018 SMART continued its ongoing 
presence at several regional safety and law 
enforcement meetings throughout Marin 
and Sonoma. These meetings include; 
Sonoma County Emergency Disaster Council, 
Sonoma County Police Chiefs Association, 
Marin County Police Chiefs Association, 
Homeless Outreach Services Team, FBI Rail 
Liaison and Transportation Security 
Administration Mass Transit Stakeholders. At 
each of these meetings SMART prepares 
updates to share with our community 
partners. 

Page 28 of 66



 

 

P a g e  | 9 

Capital Projects 
 
POSITIVE TRAIN CONTROL (PTC) IMPLEMENTATION 

In 2018, SMART continued the implementation of Positive Train Control through focus on dynamic 
testing of its freight tenant’s locomotive throughout the alignment. This test program was 
conducted with the approval and oversight of the Federal Railroad Administration, and involved 
hundreds of individual train movements during which the speed enforcement functions of the 
Positive Train Control system were demonstrated to ensure safe operation of the freight 
locomotive. Testing was performed outside of revenue service hours in order to avoid impacting 
SMART’s daily service. SMART worked closely with its PTC supplier to make system adjustments as 
testing progressed.  
 
SMART, as a leader in the implementation of Enhanced Automatic Train Control, sent staff to 
participate in three PTC Symposiums held by the Federal Railroad Administration at the US 
Department of Transportation Headquarters in Washington D.C. These summits featured detailed 

presentations, along with collaborative 
discussions between FRA staff and railroad 
representatives from across the United 
States. SMART staff had the honor of 
presenting during the July 16th Symposium, 
during which SMART offered information 
and guidance on best practices for PTC 
working groups.  
 

LARKSPUR EXTENSION PROJECT 

Construction of the Larkspur Extension 
Project began in the fall of 2017 and 
accelerated in 2018.  Work included 

constructing two new bridges and reconstructing an existing timber trestle; creation of a new 
section of Francisco Boulevard West between 2nd Street and Rice Drive; constructing the new 
Larkspur passenger boarding platform and adjacent parking lot and drop-off area; reconstructing 
Andersen Drive; modifying the San Rafael Transit Center to accommodate a second track; and 
installing underground infrastructure.  This project involves extensive coordination with outside 
stakeholders such as the City of San Rafael, the Town of Larkspur, the Golden Gate Bridge Highway 
& Transportation District, the Federal Transit Administration, the San Rafael Sanitation District, the 
Ross Valley Sanitation District, Marin Municipal Water District and other utility companies. 

Page 29 of 66



 

 

P a g e  | 10 

Construction progress was good in 2018 and kept SMART on schedule to open the extension in late 
2019. 
 
SMART worked cooperatively with the City of 
San Rafael to redesign the Larkspur project 
and ultimately realign SMART’s property in 
that area to allow space for the construction 
of a bicycle and pedestrian pathway between 
Rice and Andersen Drives.  The City 
developed the final design for the pathway 
and provided funding so that their project 
could be integrated into the Larkspur 
construction work.  The pathway will open in 
2019. 
 

NOVATO DOWNTOWN STATION 

At the request of, and funded by, the City of Novato, SMART has worked to add a third station in 
Novato that can be made operational within the 
SMART system.  SMART staff worked closely with 
the City of Novato to finalize the station elements 
and modifications to the train control system in 
2018. This continued the work begun in 2017 to 
construct a new platform and adjacent track.  
Construction is of station platform amenities and 
other final elements is planned for the end of 
2019.  

 
WINDSOR EXTENSION 

This past year SMART embarked upon the planning and preliminary design of the three-mile 
extension from the Airport Boulevard Station to 
the Town of Windsor.  This $55 million project is 
funded by the Federal Railroad Administration, 
the State of California (Cap and Trade Funds), and 
the Metropolitan Transportation Commission 
t(Regional Measure 3 Bridge Tolls).  Work on this 
new extension included field surveys, utility 
evaluation, preliminary track design, locating the 
station platform, planning parking, designing a 
pathway and conducting wetland and wildlife 
surveys.  SMART is working closely with the Town 

Page 30 of 66



 

 

P a g e  | 11 

of Windsor to coordinate design and roadway-related projects.  Final design and permitting are 
planned for 2019 and 2020.  
 
PASSENGER RAIL STUDY: NOVATO TO SUISUN 

The California State Transportation Agency identified a potential passenger rail connection 
between the SMART system in Novato and the Capital Corridor in Suisun City in their 2018 
California State Rail Plan.  This connection would provide an uninterrupted rail link between the 

SMART mainline and, ultimately, Sacramento and 
the rest of the State rail system.  SMART received 
special funding from the State of California to initiate 
a feasibility study in 2018 to evaluate the technical 
possibility, to document existing conditions and to 
develop initial concepts for a rail passenger 
connection.    
 
 

 

CROSSING SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS 

SMART designed and constructed the passenger rail system with the safest systems in the industry 
to warn and protect the traveling public at all of the at-grade 
crossings – both vehicular and pedestrian.  After experiencing 
several safety incidents between SMART trains and vehicles, 
bicyclists, and pedestrians, SMART evaluated whether there 
were any further improvements that could  make pedestrian 
path-of-travel crossings safer.  Staff compiled an internal task 
force to evaluate all of the crossings in the system that had been 
built to date.  We also consulted with the California Public 
Utilities Commission staff on proposed solutions.  The result was 
to install signage on the ground alerting pedestrians to look up 
before crossing the track, and additional concrete and fencing to 
“channelize” pedestrians to the safest location to cross.    

  
BICYCLE & PEDESTRIAN PATHWAYS 

In 2018, SMART officially opened the final multiuse pathway segments planned as part of the Phase 
1 project.   This included pathway segments in San Rafael from North San Pedro to the SMART Civic 
Center Station, and in Novato From Franklin to Grant Street and from Rush Creek Place to the 
SMART North Novato Station. This meant that there are now more than 18 miles of pathway made 
possible by the creation of the SMART District. 

Page 31 of 66



 

 

P a g e  | 12 

As part of the Larkspur extension 
project, SMART worked cooperatively 
with the City of San Rafael to redesign 
the project footprint and ultimately 
realign SMART’s property in that area to 
allow space for the construction of a 
bicycle and pedestrian pathway between 
Rice and Andersen Drives.  The City 
developed the final design for the 
pathway and provided funding so that 
their project could be integrated into the 
Larkspur construction work.  The 
pathway will open in 2019. 

SMART also finalized the design and construction documents for a segment of pathway between 
Payran Street and Southpoint Boulevard in Petaluma.  This work included securing the necessary 
environmental regulatory permits to construct the project, which is funded by the State of 
California, the Sonoma Open Space District, and Measure Q, is planned for construction in summer 
of 2019. 

 
PASSENGER RAIL CAR PROJECTS  

Since opening day, SMART has gained experience and knowledge about our unique fleet of Diesel 
Multiple Unit (DMU) rail cars.  This includes an understanding of which modifications and 
improvements would best suit SMART riders to long term maintenance needs. We have worked 
cooperatively with “sister” DMU owners Metrolinx in Toronto Canada on fleet maintenance and 
performance issues during the warranty period. Since arrival on SMART’s property the DMU’s have 
undergone a number of upgrades that improve the vehicles and mitigate potential future issues.  

At the end of 2018 SMART started an ongoing repair campaign of modifications and improvements 
throughout the drivetrain of the DMUs working with carbuilder Nippon Sharyo and their 
subcontractor. Each DMU will have its engine, transmission, and gearbox pulled off the car to 
receive fixes to issues found on the Metrolinx fleet as well as other engine issues we have 
identified. SMART has used this opportunity to coordinate additional required maintenance work 
to be done concurrently which minimizes down-time for the vehicles. 

SMART has made advances in expanding its fleet in 2018 as well. First on site in October of 2018, 
SMART’s 4 newest DMU’s 115, 116, 117, and 118 were involved in an incident in transit from the 
Port of Savannah Georgia to SMART’s property in Santa Rosa which damaged the between-car 
platforms. Repair work was completed on January 30th 2019 and SMART, along with the car 
manufacturer Nippon Sharyo, has been actively commissioning and testing the new cars so that 
they may join the other 14 cars in passenger service.   

Page 32 of 66



 

 

P a g e  | 13 

COMMUNITY OUTREACH  
 

SMART’s first full year of service included extensive community outreach and rail safety programs; 
expanding social media and digital marketing programs; brand awareness and ridership campaigns; 
and a successful revenue-generating advertising program. In its first year of operation, SMART has 
built a brand based on safety, reliability, being invested in the well-being of our community. 

 
COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 
In 2018, SMART’s Communications and Marketing team participated in 119 events and 

presentations in Marin and 
Sonoma counties. Raising 
awareness about SMART and 
about railroad safety is at the 
heart of all of SMART’s 
presentations and events. 
SMART connects with the 
community in a variety of 
ways, including presentations 
tailored to groups and 
organizations, participating in 
large community events, 
engaging with passengers 
onboard SMART trains, and 
conducting safety 
presentations on platforms 
and in local schools. 

Connecting with children is always a priority, to ensure these future SMART riders understand the 
importance of railroad safety. 
 
 
RAIL SAFETY EDUCATION 
SMART has developed several rail safety 
education programs designed to help build “rail 
safe” communities. SMART conducts safety 
education at outreach events, and has also 
developed rail safety pop-up events that delivers 
safety information to the community at SMART’s 
stations on a regular basis. SMART also conducts 
safety presentations for students at schools 
throughout Sonoma and Marin counties.  

Page 33 of 66



 

 

P a g e  | 14 

In 2018, SMART’s outreach team delivered 20 presentations at local schools, where 3,918 children 
were educated about safety near tracks and trains, including safe behavior at railroad crossings and 
at station platforms.  
 
Since SMART began its school safety education program in 2016, its outreach team has delivered 
more than 170 presentations, reaching more than 37,545 students. Every member of SMART’s 
Communications and Marketing team is a trained Operation Lifesaver presenter.  
 
GROUP TRIP PROGRAM 
 
With the success of SMART’s train service, SMART developed a new program in 2018 for large 
groups traveling on the train.  SMART’s outreach team helps these groups navigate the fare system, 
answers any questions they may have about SMART, and provides an on-platform safety briefing 
on the day of their trip to ensure a smooth and safe experience.  In 2018, 31 platform safety 
briefings were conducted, providing 965 passengers—including children, seniors and people with 
disabilities—with an introduction to the SMART train and important railroad safety information. 
This new program continues to grow and provides an excellent way to introduce new riders to the 
SMART train. 
 
 
 
 
 
SMART passengers from the Disability 
Services & Legal Center in Santa Rosa gear 
up for a group trip following a platform 
safety briefing from SMART’s outreach 
team.   

Page 34 of 66



 

 

P a g e  | 15 

SOCIAL MEDIA AND DIGITAL PROGRAMS 
 
SMART has been expanding its social media and digital programs, posting significant growth and 
reach each year.  SMART continues to have a strong following on Facebook and Twitter, and 
growing reach on Instagram. For 2018, SMART’s social media programs grew on all platforms: 
Facebook followers increased to 13,177 (up 5%); Twitter grew to 3,502 (up 16%) and Instagram 
increased to 1,863 (up 18%).  SMART’s most popular Facebook post had a reach of more than 
102,000, reflecting strong engagement levels.  

SMART’s Nixle text message alert system, which was implemented last year also grew to 3,462 
subscribers, up from 977 in 2017, and SMART’s digital e-newsletter also has a reach of 9,176.  The 
total reach for SMART’s digital programs is now more than 31,000. 

SMART’s website also had a banner year. Our user-focused site is often the first stop for those who 
want to learn more about SMART, and the website provides schedules, fares, and general 
information, including important safety information and information on service alerts or updates.  
Since the launch of service, SMART’s website has had more than 500,000 unique visitors, and more 
than 1.13 million sessions.   

MARKETING AND SPECIAL EVENTS  
 
SMART’s revenue-generating advertising program on 
board the SMART train and at station platforms 
continues to be successful. Many advertisers that 
came onboard when SMART first started service have 
remained with us, and we continue to bring on new 
advertisers regularly.  Several advertisers have 
purchased SMART’s advertising booking a year in 
advance, with contracts taking us into 2020.  
Advertisers are eager to get on board and recognize 
the value of uniting their brand with the SMART train, 
which can bring businesses closer to the local 
community and establish a unique opportunity for 
national brands.  

For SMART, 2018 was a banner year, with a successful 
ridership campaign, a one-year anniversary 

community celebration, and our most successful holiday toy drive to date.  

Page 35 of 66



 

 

P a g e  | 16 

SMART’s marketing campaign to boost ridership included a Reasons to Ride social media video 
campaign, that asked riders to share their reasons for taking the SMART train. Video submissions 
covered a broad range of “reasons to ride” ranging 
from a stress-free commute to SMART’s great 
customer service to SMART’s onboard concession 
goodies.  

 

August of 2018 marked a significant milestone for 
SMART—SMART’s one-year anniversary. To thank our community for their support, SMART 
sponsored SMART Fest, a community celebration that included booths sponsored by SMART’s 
advertisers, food trucks, and live music. The daylong event drew more than 4,000 attendees, 
received excellent news coverage across the board, and introduced our passenger train service to a 
broader audience.   

 

SMART’s information booth at SMART Fest, a community celebration organized by SMART to mark its 1-year 
anniversary, drew several thousand people. SMART continues to enjoy strong community support. 

Page 36 of 66



 

 

P a g e  | 17 

SMART’s community outreach ended 2018 with its annual Holiday Express Toy Drive to collect toys 
for local children in need. This year, the toy drive included partnerships with local toy stores where 
donation bins were placed to collect unwrapped toys 
and gift cards, and two station-based events. On 
December 8, passengers brought their toy donations 
onboard and rode the decorated Holiday Express train 
with Santa, enjoying holiday treats and eggnog. The 
toys were distributed to our nonprofit partners: Toys 
for Tots in Sonoma County, Petaluma People Services 
Center, COTS in Petaluma, and North Marin 
Community Services.  

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 37 of 66



 

 

P a g e  | 18 

Financial Information  
 
SMART produces a number of financial reports that are available to the public, including the Annual 
Budget, monthly Board reports and the audited Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.  Financial 
information provided in this Annual Report is designed to provide the public with a general 
understanding of revenues and expenditures for the District in the last Fiscal Year which runs from 
July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2018.  The presentation of these amounts differs from the 2018 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report in that they do not include calculations for depreciation 
and other non-cash adjustments that are necessary for presentation under Government 
Accounting Standards Board rules.  Please refer to the District’s Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Statements for those audited statements.   
 
SMART’s revenues related to running and operating the SMART District in Fiscal Year 2017-18 were 
$47.8 million.  Sales Tax revenues continued to grow at a moderate rate of 3%.  Tax revenue for the 
year was $37.1 million. Other revenue included Fares, Parking and other charges of $4 million, 
Operating Grants of $3.7 million and miscellaneous revenue related to the sale of property of $2.2 
million.  In addition to this revenue, SMART also received grants for the Larkspur extension and 
other capital projects of $24.9 million.  Grants included $9.9 million from the Metropolitan 
Transportation Commission, and $9.5 million from the Federal Transit Administration.  An 
additional $4.4 million from Other Governments paid for improvements such as the Downtown 
Novato station and the Anderson Drive crossing in San Rafael.   Thus, the total revenue for all 
functions including both capital and operating was $72.7 million. 
 
 

 
 

Page 38 of 66



 

 

P a g e  | 19 

 
 
At the end of the Fiscal Year, SMART had an unrestricted cash balance of $60 million.  SMART also 
held bond funds of $21.8 million, which are made up of reserves controlled by SMART’s bond 
trustee.    
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Expenses for Fiscal Year 2017-18, excluding depreciation and other financial adjustments, were 
$61.1 million. Included in that total were $17.8 million in non-capitalized salaries and benefits and 
$8.9 million for services and supplies.  Expenses in Fiscal Year 2018 were evenly split between 
operating expenses of $27.3 and $27.9 million related to the building of the rail and pathway, 
known as Capital Improvements. Interest expense of $5.8 million related to SMART’s debt service.  
Within Capital Improvements, payments totaling $4.7 million were made for SMART’s new rail cars.  
Expenditures of $1.9 million were related to final construction items in the Initial Operating 
Segment.  Design and construction expenses of $3.1 million were incurred on SMART pathway 
projects.  Work on the Larkspur Extension was $17.9 million.   

Page 39 of 66



Page 40 of 66



Page 41 of 66



Page 42 of 66



Page 43 of 66



Page 44 of 66



Resolution No. 2019-05 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 

May 1, 2019 
 

 

 
Page 1 of 2 

 

 
 
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT 
DISTRICT APPROVING CONTRACT NO. CV-BB-18-001 WITH GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF NON-MORTORIZED PATHWAY BETWEEN PAYRAN STREET AND 
SOUTH POINT BOULEVARD IN PETALUMA 
              
  
 WHEREAS, The Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District (SMART) prepared construction 
documents for a segment of non-motorized pathway between Payran Street and Southoint 
Boulevard in Petaluma; and 
 
 WHEREAS, SMART initiated a formal Invitation for Bid for Construction Contract No. CV-
BB-18-001 on March 14, 2019 which included advertising the opportunity in local newspapers, 
trade journals, the SMART website and other related outreach outlets; and 
 

WHEREAS, SMART conducted a pre-bid conference for interested contractors on March 
22, 2019; and 
 
 WHEREAS, SMART received six bids on April 15, 2019 and conducted a public bid 
opening; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Granite Construction Company submitted the lowest bid for the work of 
$2,023,300.59; and  
 
 WHEREAS, SMART determined that Granite Construction Company submitted the 
lowest responsive and responsible bid; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF SMART 
HEREBY FINDS, DETERMINES, DECLARES, AND ORDERS AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The foregoing Recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein and 
form a part of this Resolution. 

 
2. The General Manager is authorized to execute Contract No. CV-BB-18-001 with 

Granite Construction Company in the amount of $2,023,300.59. 
 

 
 

Page 45 of 66



Resolution No. 2019-05 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 

May 1, 2019 
 

 

 
Page 2 of 2 

 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Sonoma-Marin Area 
Rail Transit District held on the 1st day of May, 2019, by the following vote: 
 
DIRECTORS: 
AYES:    
 
NOES: 
 
ABSENT:    
 
ABSTAIN: 
      ________________________________ 
      Gary Phillips, Chair, Board of Directors 
      Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
        
Leticia Rosas-Mendoza, Clerk of Board of Directors 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 

Page 46 of 66



Contractor Initials __________________ 
 
GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NON-MOTORIZED PATHWAY, PAYRAN ST. TO SOUTHPOINT BLVD. (MP 39.25 – 40.41) 
CV-BB-18-001          Page 1 of 7 

 

AGREEMENT 
 
THIS AGREEMENT, dated this ______ day of ________, 2019, by and between Granite Construction 
Company, whose place of business is located at 1324 S. State Street, Ukiah, CA 95482 
(“Contractor”), and the SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT, a Special District of the 
State of California (“SMART”).  
 
WHEREAS, SMART, by its Board Resolution No. [ # ] adopted on the [Day] day of [Month], [Year], 
awarded to Contractor the following Contract: 
 
     Invitation for Construction Bid 
  Non-Motorized Pathway, Payran St. To Southpoint Blvd. (MP 39.25 – 40.41) 

 FEDERAL PROJECT NO. ATPSB1L-6411(010)  
 CONTRACT NUMBER #CV-BB-18-001 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter set forth, 
Contractor and SMART agree as follows: 
 
Article 1.  Work 
 
1.1 Contractor shall complete all Work specified in the Contract Documents, in accordance with 
the Specifications, Drawings, and all other terms and conditions of the Contract Documents. 
 
Article 2.  Notices to SMART 
 
2.1 SMART has designated Bill Gamlen, Project Manager, to act as SMART’s Representative(s), 

who will represent SMART in performing SMART’s duties and responsibilities and exercising 
SMART’s rights and authorities in Contract Documents.  SMART may change the individual(s) 
acting as SMART’s Representative(s), or delegate one or more specific functions to one or 
more specific SMART’s Representatives, including without limitation engineering, 
architectural, inspection and general administrative functions, at any time with written notice 
and without liability to Contractor.  Each SMART’s Representative is the beneficiary of all 
Contractor obligations to SMART, including without limitation, all releases and indemnities. 

 
2.2 All notices or demands to SMART under the Contract Documents shall be to SMART’s 

Representative at:  5401 Old Redwood Hwy Suite 200, Petaluma, CA, 94954 or to such 
other person(s) and address(es) as SMART shall provide to Contractor. 

 
Article 3.  Contract Time and Liquidated Damages 
 
3.1 Contract Time and Notice to Proceed. 
 Contract Time commences on the date established in Document 00550 (Notice to Proceed).  
SMART reserves the right to modify or alter the Commencement Date of the Work. SMART may give 
a Notice to Proceed at any time within 60 Days after the Notice of Award.  Contractor shall not do any 
Work at the Site prior to the date on which the Contract Time commences to run. 
 
 Contractor shall achieve Substantial Completion of the entire Work within reasonable and 
approved schedule from the date when the Contract Time commences to run as provided in 
Document 00700 (General Conditions).  Contractor shall complete the Work so that a Final Inspection 
Report can be issued in accordance with Section 01770 (Contract Closeout). 
 
3.2 Liquidated Damages. 

 SMART and Contractor recognize that time is of the essence of this Agreement and that SMART will 

Page 47 of 66



Contractor Initials __________________ 
 
GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NON-MOTORIZED PATHWAY, PAYRAN ST. TO SOUTHPOINT BLVD. (MP 39.25 – 40.41) 
CV-BB-18-001          Page 2 of 7 

 

suffer financial loss (see Paragraph 3.3 below), if all or any part of the Work is not completed within 
the times specified above, plus any extensions thereof allowed in accordance with the Contract 
Documents.  Consistent with Article 14 of Document 00700 (General Conditions), Contractor and 
SMART agree that because of the nature of the Project, it would be impractical or extremely difficult to 
fix the amount of actual damages incurred by SMART because of a delay in completion of all or any 
part of the Work.  Accordingly, SMART and Contractor agree that as liquidated damages for delay 
Contractor shall pay SMART:   
 
3.2.1.1 One hundred dollars ($100) for each Day that expires after the time specified herein for 

Contractor to achieve Substantial Completion of the entire Work, until achieved.  
3.2.2 One hundred dollars ($100) for each Day that expires after the time specified herein for 

Contractor to achieve Final Inspection Report of the entire Work, until achieved. 
3.2.3 One thousand dollars ($1,000) per hour per SMART train car delayed or obstructed. 
3.2.4 Two thousand dollars ($2,000) per day of delay if any damage to the track caused by 

Contractor. 
 
 These measures of liquidated damages shall apply cumulatively and except as provided 
below, shall be presumed to be the damages suffered by SMART resulting from delay in completion of 
the Work.  
 
3.3 Liquidated damages for delay shall only cover project administrative (such as Project 

management and consultant expenses) and cost damages suffered by SMART as a result of 
delay.  Liquidated damages shall not cover the cost of completion of the Work, damages 
resulting from Defective Work, lost revenues or costs of substitute facilities, or damages 
suffered by others who then seek to recover their damages from SMART (for example, delay 
claims of other contractors, subcontractors, tenants, or other third-parties), and defense costs 
thereof.  

 
Article 4.  Contract Sum 
 
4.1 SMART shall pay Contractor the Contract Sum for completion of Work in accordance with 
Contract Documents as follows:  
 

 TOTAL CONTRACT SUM $2,023,300.59 

 
Article 5.  Contractor’s Representations 
 
 In order to induce SMART to enter into this Agreement, Contractor makes the following 
representations and warranties: 
 
5.1 Contractor has visited the Site and has examined thoroughly and understood the nature and 

extent of the Contract Documents, Work, Site, locality, actual conditions, as-built conditions, 
and all local conditions, and federal, state and local laws and regulations that in any manner 
may affect cost, progress, performance or furnishing of Work or which relate to any aspect of 
the means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures of construction to be employed by 
Contractor and safety precautions and programs incident thereto. 

 
5.2 Contractor has examined thoroughly and understood all reports of exploration and tests of 
subsurface conditions, as-built drawings, drawings, products specifications or reports, available for 
Bidding purposes, of physical conditions, including Underground Facilities, which are identified in 
Document 00320 (Existing Conditions Information), or which may appear in the Drawings.  Contractor 
accepts the determination set forth in these Documents and Document 00700 (General Conditions) of 
the limited extent of the information contained in such materials upon which Contractor may be 

Page 48 of 66



Contractor Initials __________________ 
 
GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NON-MOTORIZED PATHWAY, PAYRAN ST. TO SOUTHPOINT BLVD. (MP 39.25 – 40.41) 
CV-BB-18-001          Page 3 of 7 

 

entitled to rely.  Contractor agrees that, except for the information so identified, Contractor does not 
and shall not rely on any other information contained in such reports and drawings. 
 
5.3 Contractor has conducted or obtained and has understood all such examinations, 

investigations, explorations, tests, reports and studies (in addition to or to supplement those 
referred to in Section 5.2 of this Document 00520) that pertain to the subsurface conditions, 
as-built conditions, Underground Facilities and all other physical conditions at or contiguous to 
the Site or otherwise that may affect the cost, progress, performance or furnishing of Work, as 
Contractor considers necessary for the performance or furnishing of Work at the Contract 
Sum, within the Contract Time and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the 
Contract Documents, including specifically the provisions of Document 00700 (General 
Conditions); and no additional examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, reports, 
studies or similar information or data are or will be required by Contractor for such purposes. 

 
5.4 Contractor has correlated its knowledge and the results of all such observations, 

examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, reports and studies with the terms and 
conditions of the Contract Documents. 

 
5.5 Contractor has given SMART prompt written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or 

discrepancies that it has discovered in or among the Contract Documents and as-built 
drawings and actual conditions and the written resolution thereof through Addenda issued by 
SMART is acceptable to Contractor. 

 
5.6 Contractor is duly organized, existing and in good standing under applicable state law, and is 

duly qualified to conduct business in the State of California. 
 
5.7 Contractor has duly authorized the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, 

the other Contract Documents and the Work to be performed herein.  The Contract 
Documents do not violate or create a default under any instrument, agreement, order or 
decree binding on Contractor. 

 
5.8 Contractor has listed the following Subcontractors pursuant to the Subcontractor Listing Law, 

California Public Contract Code §4100 et seq.: 
 

Name of Subcontractor and  
Location of Mill or Shop 

Description of Work:  
Reference To Bid Items 

Subcontractor’s 
License No. 

Ahlborn Fence & Steel, Inc. 
(Santa Rosa, CA) 

Remove, Relocate, & Install Fence 
(Bid Items: 17, 18, 31, 32, 33)  

LIC: 793504 
DIR: 1000001160 

Camblin Steel Service, Inc. 
(Rocklin, CA) 

Bridge Rebar 
(Bid Items: 10) 

LIC: 218839 
DIR: 1000003852 

Drill Tech Drilling & Shoring, Inc. 
(Antioch, CA) 

CIDH Piling 
(Bid Items: 6) 

LIC: 745354 
DIR: 1000004866 

Nitta, Inc. 
(Loomis, CA) 

Hydroseed, Erosion Control 
(Bid Items: 21, 22, 44, 45, 46) 

LIC: 401640 
DIR: 1000000478 

Neary Landscape, Inc. 
(Cotati, CA) 

Plant Trees 
(Bid Items: 51 and 52) 

LIC: 814207 
DIR: 1000002998 

Tyrrell Resources, Inc. 
(Auburn, CA) 

Remove Trees 
(Bid Items: 20) 

LIC: 938948 
DIR: 1000007965 

Valdivia Trucking 
(Windsor, CA) 

Hauling and Trucking 
(Bid Items: 3, 4, 5, 6, 19, 23, 24, 25, 
26, 27, 28, 40, 43) 

LIC: N/A 
DIR: 1000040002 

 

Page 49 of 66



Contractor Initials __________________ 
 
GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NON-MOTORIZED PATHWAY, PAYRAN ST. TO SOUTHPOINT BLVD. (MP 39.25 – 40.41) 
CV-BB-18-001          Page 4 of 7 

 

5.9 Contractor has designated Jason Picard, Project Manager, to act as Contractor’s 
Representative(s), who will represent Contractor in performing Contractor’s duties and 
responsibilities and exercising Contractor’s rights and authorities in Contract Documents.  
Contractor has also designated Joe Pomilia, Superintendent, to act as Contractor’s 
Superintendent.  Contractor may change the individual(s) acting as Contractor’s 
Representative(s), or delegate one or more specific functions to one or more specific 
Contractor’s Representatives, at any time upon prior written notice and approval and without 
liability to SMART, but Contractor is limited to two representatives. 

 
Article 6.  Contract Documents 
 
6.1 Contract Documents consist of the following documents, including all changes, Addenda, and 

Modifications thereto:   
 

Document 00100    Notice Inviting Bids 
Document 00200    Instructions to Bidders 
Document 00400 (Revised – 4.8.2019)  Bid Form 
Document 00510    Notice of Award 
Document 00520    Agreement 
Document 00550    Notice to Proceed 
Document 00610    Construction Performance Bond 
Document 00620 Construction Labor and Material 

Payment Bond 
Document 00630    Guaranty 
Document 00650 Agreement and Release of Any and 

All Claims 
Document 00660    Substitution Request Form 
Document 00670    Escrow Bid Documents (Optional) 
Document 00680 Escrow Agreement for Security 

Deposit in Lieu of Retention 
(Contractor’s Option) 

Document 00700    General Conditions 
Document 00800    Supplementary Conditions 
Document 00821 Supplementary Conditions – 

Insurance 
Document 00822    Apprenticeship Program 
Document 00910    Addenda 
Document 00823    Federal Provisions 
Specifications     Sections 01100 to 01780 

Divisions as listed in the Table of 
Contents 

Drawings  Drawings listed in Drawing No. 1-41, 
T001-T003 

 
6.2 There are no Contract Documents other than those listed in this Document 00520, Article 6.  
Document 00320 (Existing Conditions Information), Document 00335 (Hazardous Materials Surveys), 
and the information supplied through these documents, are not Contract Documents.  The Contract 
Documents may only be amended, modified or supplemented as provided in Document 00700 
(General Conditions).   
 
 
 
 

Page 50 of 66



Contractor Initials __________________ 
 
GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NON-MOTORIZED PATHWAY, PAYRAN ST. TO SOUTHPOINT BLVD. (MP 39.25 – 40.41) 
CV-BB-18-001          Page 5 of 7 

 

Article 7.  Miscellaneous 
 
7.1 Terms and abbreviations used in this Agreement are defined in Document 00700 (General 

Conditions) and Section 01420 (References and Definitions) and will have the meaning 
indicated therein. 

 
7.2 It is understood and agreed that in no instance are the persons signing this Agreement for or 

on behalf of SMART or acting as an employee, agent, or representative of SMART, liable on 
this Agreement or any of the Contract Documents, or upon any warranty of authority, or 
otherwise, and it is further understood and agreed that liability of the SMART is limited and 
confined to such liability as authorized or imposed by the Contract Documents or applicable 
law. 

 
7.3 Contractor shall not assign any portion of the Contract Documents, and may subcontract 

portions of the Contract Documents only in compliance with the Subcontractor Listing Law, 
California Public Contract Code §4100 et seq.  

 
7.4 The Contract Sum includes all allowances (if any). 
 
7.5 In entering into a public works contract or a subcontract to supply goods, services or materials 

pursuant to a public works contract, Contractor or Subcontractor offers and agrees to assign to 
the awarding body all rights, title and interest in and to all causes of action it may have under 
Section 4 of the Clayton Act (15 U.S.C. §15) or under the Cartwright Act (Chapter 2 
(commencing with Section 16700) of Part 2 of Division 7 of the Business and Professions 
Code), arising from purchases of goods, services or materials pursuant to the public works 
contract or the subcontract.  This assignment shall be made and become effective at the time 
SMART tenders final payment to Contractor, without further acknowledgment by the parties. 

 
7.6 Copies of the general prevailing rates of per diem wages for each craft, classification, or type 

of worker needed to execute the Contract, as determined by Director of the State of California 
Department of Industrial Relations, are deemed included in the Contract Documents and shall 
be made available to any interested party on request.  Pursuant to Section 1861 of the Labor 
Code, Contractor represents that it is aware of the provisions of Section 3700 of the Labor 
Code which require every employer to be insured against liability for workers’ compensation or 
to undertake self-insurance in accordance with the provisions of that Code, and Contractor 
shall comply with such provisions before commencing the performance of the Work of the 
Contract Documents. 

 
7.7 Should any part, term or provision of this Agreement or any of the Contract Documents, or any 

document required herein or therein to be executed or delivered, be declared invalid, void or 
unenforceable, all remaining parts, terms and provisions shall remain in full force and effect 
and shall in no way be invalidated, impaired or affected thereby.  If the provisions of any law 
causing such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability may be waived, they are hereby waived to 
the end that this Agreement and the Contract Documents may be deemed valid and binding 
agreements, enforceable in accordance with their terms to the greatest extent permitted by 
applicable law.  In the event any provision not otherwise included in the Contract Documents is 
required to be included by any applicable law, that provision is deemed included herein by this 
reference (or, if such provision is required to be included in any particular portion of the 
Contract Documents, that provision is deemed included in that portion). 

 
7.8 This Agreement and the Contract Documents shall be deemed to have been entered into in 

the County of Sonoma, State of California, and governed in all respects by California law 
(excluding choice of law rules).  The exclusive venue for all disputes or litigation hereunder 

Page 51 of 66



Contractor Initials __________________ 
 
GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NON-MOTORIZED PATHWAY, PAYRAN ST. TO SOUTHPOINT BLVD. (MP 39.25 – 40.41) 
CV-BB-18-001          Page 6 of 7 

 

shall be in Sonoma County.  Both parties hereby waive their rights under California Code of 
Civil Procedure Section 394 to file a motion to transfer any action or proceeding arising out of 
the Contract Documents to another venue. 

 
7.9 Contractor accepts the claims procedure established by Article 12 of Document 00700 

(General Conditions), as established under Section 930.2 of the California Government Code. 
 

 
 

Page 52 of 66



Contractor Initials __________________ 
 
GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NON-MOTORIZED PATHWAY, PAYRAN ST. TO SOUTHPOINT BLVD. (MP 39.25 – 40.41) 
CV-BB-18-001          Page 7 of 7 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this Agreement in duplicate the day and year first 
above written. 
 
SMART: CONTRACTOR: 

Certificates of Insurance and Guaranty are on 
file with and reviewed as to substance for 
SMART by: 

 

 
 
  

 
 
  

Ken Hendricks, Procurement Coordinator Granite Construction Company 
  
  

Federal ID #:  
Reviewed as to form by SMART Counsel:  
 
 
  

 
 
By:  

SMART Counsel [Signature] 
  
Date:________________   
 [Please print name here] 
  

Title:  
 [If Corporation:  Chairman, President, or 

Vice President] 
  
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit 
A Political Subdivision of the State of California 

 

  

  
 
By:  

Chair, Board of Directors    [Signature] 
  
Date:________________   
 [Please print name here] 
Attest:   
  
  Title:  
Clerk of the Board of Directors 
  
 

[If Corporation:  Secretary, Assistant 
Secretary, Chief Financial Officer, or 
Assistant Treasurer] 

  
  
  
  

END OF DOCUMENT 

Page 53 of 66



              

PAYRAN STREET TO SOUTHPOINT AVENUE 

MULTI USE PATHWAY 

Page 54 of 66

jriley
Polygonal Line



Page 55 of 66



Page 56 of 66



BIGGS CARDOSA ASSOCIATES, INC. 

FIRST AMENDMENT 

CV-PS-17-001 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR CONSULTANT SERVICES 

BETWEEN THE SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

AND BIGGS CARDOSA ASSOCIATES, INC. 

 

This First Amendment dated as of May 1, 2019 (the “First Amendment”) to the 

Agreement for Consultant Services by and between the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit 

District (“SMART”) and Biggs Cardosa Associates, Inc. (“Consultant”), dated as of June 

12, 2017 (the “Original Agreement,” and now as amended by this First Amendment, the 

“Agreement”).   

 

RECITALS 

 

 WHEREAS, SMART and Consultant previously entered into the Original 

Agreement to provide engineering pathway design, construction, and related services; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, SMART desires to add the optional Construction Support scope of 

work from the original procurement, extend the term of the Agreement through 

December 31, 2019, and increase the not-to-exceed amount by $40,000 for a total not to 

exceed amount of $365,000. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals set forth above and the 

covenants contained herein, it is mutually agreed by and between the parties that: 

 

 

AGREEMENT 

 

1. “ARTICLE 2. LIST OF ATTACHMENTS.” The attached Attachment A, 

Scope of Work, from this Amendment shall augment and amend the Attachment A 

from the Original Agreement. 

 

 

2. “ARTICLE 5. PAYMENT.”  Section 5.02 shall be amended as follows: 
 

Consultant shall be paid, as full compensation for the satisfactory completion of 

the work described in the Scope of Work (Exhibit A) in accordance with the 

budget established in Exhibit B, provided, however, that Consultant agrees to 

perform all services described in the Scope of work for the negotiated amount of 

$365,000. The not-to-exceed (NTE) amount of $365,000 for this Agreement 

includes labor, supervision, applicable surcharges such as taxes, insurance, and 

fringe benefits as well as indirect costs, overhead, and profit allowance, 

equipment, materials, and supplies; in no case shall Consultant be reimbursed for 

an amount in excess of the NTE amount without a formal written amendment to 

this Agreement. 

 

Page 57 of 66



BIGGS CARDOSA ASSOCIATES, INC. 

FIRST AMENDMENT 

CV-PS-17-001 

 

3. “ARTICLE 6. TERM OF AGREEMENT.”  Section 6.01 shall be 

amended as follows: 

 

The term of this Agreement shall remain in effect until December 31, 2019 

unless terminated earlier in accordance with the provisions of Article 7. 

 

 

4. Except to the extent the Agreement is specifically amended or supplemented hereby, 

the Agreement, together with all supplements, amendments and exhibits thereto is, 

and shall continue to be, in full force and effect as originally executed, and nothing 

contained herein shall, or shall be construed to, modify, invalidate, or otherwise affect 

any provision of the Agreement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS SPACE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58 of 66



BIGGS CARDOSA ASSOCIATES, INC. 

FIRST AMENDMENT 

CV-PS-17-001 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this First Amendment as 

set forth below. 

 

 

SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT 

DISTRICT 

 

 

Dated: _____________ By__________________________________ 

               Farhad Mansourian, General Manager  

  

   

BIGGS CARDOSA ASSOCIATES, INC. 

 

 

Dated: _____________ By__________________________________ 

 

 Its__________________________________        

 

 

 

                                                                APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

Dated: _______________                      By_________________________________ 

                                                                      District Counsel 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 59 of 66



BIGGS CARDOSA ASSOCIATES, INC. 

ATTACHMENT A 

FIRST AMENDMENT 

CV-PS-17-001 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 

The following work is in addition to all other work described in the Original Exhibit A. 

 

Construction Support Scope of Work: 

 

Consultant shall provide limited construction period inspection and testing to verify work 

is being conducted according to plan and specification (eg. Soil and AC compaction 

testing, rebar inspection, or concrete testing at bridge abutments). Consultant may be 

asked to attend Pre-Construction Meetings, review pre-fabricated bridge design by 

manufacturers, review shop drawings, answer clarification questions, perform 

environmental monitoring, preform periodic site visits, and prepare record drawings. 

Page 60 of 66



Page 61 of 66



Page 62 of 66



Page 63 of 66



Page 64 of 66



Page 65 of 66



Page 66 of 66


	07_Annual Report 2018.pdf
	07_Measure Q Program Annual Report 2018 DRAFTs_LRM.pdf
	Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
	Annual Report 2018
	About Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART)
	2018 Board of Directors
	District Management
	Table of Contents
	Message From The Chair, Board of Directors
	Passenger Rail Service
	Operations
	Safety and Security
	Capital Projects
	COMMUNITY OUTREACH
	Financial Information





